Rethinking the SAT: The Role of Standardized Testing in College Admissions

A Research Paper submitted to the Department of Engineering and Society

Presented to the Faculty of the School of Engineering and Applied Science University of Virginia • Charlottesville, Virginia

> In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Bachelor of Science, School of Engineering

> > Emily Flynn Spring, 2020

On my honor as a University Student, I have neither given nor received unauthorized aid on this assignment as defined by the Honor Guidelines for Thesis-Related Assignments

Signature	Date
Emily Flynn	

Approved

_____ Date _____

ed _____ D Michael Gorman, Department of Engineering and Society

Table of Contents

Rethinking the SAT: The Role of Standardized Testing in College Admissions 1
1. Introduction
2. Utilitarianism and Human Rights
3. The Current System
A. Utilitarian Approach
B. Human Rights Approach 11
4. Alternative Solutions
A. Not Allowing Retakes
i. Utilitarian Approach14
ii. Human Rights Approach 14
B. Weighting SAT Scores 15
i. Utilitarian Approach15
ii. Human Rights Approach 15
C. An Adaptive Exam
i. Utilitarian Approach16
ii. Human Rights Approach 16
D. Performance Assessment
i. Utilitarian Approach
ii. Human Rights Approach 18
5. Conclusions and Future Work
6. References

1. Introduction

Standardized tests in college admissions date back to 1900 with the establishment of the College Entrance Examination Board (Beatty et al., 1999). This organization would later become known as the College Board, which gives the SAT and Advanced Placement examinations to thousands of students each year (Lemann, 2000). The original intent of these examinations was to determine whether students were prepared for the rigor of college work (Beatty et al., 1999). Elite colleges and universities were receiving applications from students who had completed secondary school, but their skills and abilities were not always reflected in their secondary grades (Ibid). Since then, more and more institutions have required the SAT or other standardized testing results for college admissions.

There are arguments for and against the use of standardized testing in college admissions. Some assert that qualified students will assuredly be accepted into some university, and the only purpose of the SAT is to restrict admission to highly competitive universities (Beatty et al., 1999). In other words, for most non-exclusive schools, standardized testing serves no purpose. An argument against that is that testing scores provide a common metric for students from different states, schools, and backgrounds, which is essential for determining a student's success at university (Strauss, 2019).

Despite this argument for standardized testing, many schools are shifting to make test scores optional for applicants. About 40% of accredited colleges and universities in the United States have made SAT and ACT scores optional (Strauss, 2019). The argument is that the schools have found no difference in academic achievement. Additionally, some schools noted an increase in student body diversity when test scores were made optional. At Wake Forest, ethnic diversity increased by 90% when the requirement of test scores was removed (Ibid). At the

University of Chicago, they saw a 20% increase in first generation, low income, rural, and veteran students (Ibid). In a 2014 survey of schools that have made scores optional, there was found to be no significant difference between the graduation rates and GPAs of students who submitted scores and those who did not (Kamenetz, 2015).

Standardized testing recently came into national consideration due to the Varsity Blues scandal in 2019. The Department of Justice discovered that parents of high school students were paying for their students to attend certain colleges by falsifying athletic records and facilitating cheating on standardized exams, including the SAT (Li & Mandell, 2019). Schools involved included Yale University, Stanford University, and Georgetown University, and more (United States Attorney's Office, District of Massachusetts, 2019). In total, over 50 people were charged with various crimes (Ibid). In many cases, cheating on the SAT allowed wealthy families to ensure that their students would be able to attend elite universities. This goes against the idea that the SAT is an unbiased way to evaluate students from different backgrounds. If students can pay to get a high score, then how can the SAT truly compare students from different socioeconomic statuses?

In the wake of this scandal, more people have considered alternatives to the SAT as it currently exists. Some examples of this are only taking the SAT once, weighting the score based on socioeconomic background, and completely removing the SAT as a college entrance requirement. However, it is difficult to compare these alternatives against one another. One potential method of comparison is utilitarianism, a form of ethics that determines right and wrong based on how much harm it causes society overall. However, when considering alternatives to the SAT, it is also necessary to look at human rights. The 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the 1960 Convention against Discrimination in Education both

consider post-secondary education a human right for qualified individuals. In this thesis, potential alternatives to the SAT are considered through both a human rights and utilitarian lens.

2. Utilitarianism and Human Rights

Utilitarianism is a form of ethics that determines whether an action is right or wrong by judging how much happiness or harm it causes (Gorman, Mehalik, & Werhane, 2000). When applied to society, it can be generalized to judging how much benefit or harm an action causes to society. It is in contrast to other ethical framework that emphasize an individual's happiness. This ethics framework was chosen because in the United States, college admissions has an impact on a wide range of people, from businesses to families. In order to consider the impact of standardized testing on this large network, utilitarianism was chosen for its emphasis on society as a whole over individuals.

The human right to higher education refers to the extent to which individuals can make a claim on post-secondary education, including both undergraduate and graduate studies (McCowan, 2012). Unlike utilitarian ethics, the human rights approach emphasizes individuals instead of society as a whole. This framework was chosen for its emphasis on individuals and can be contrasted with utilitarianism.

3. The Current System

In the United States, the College Board and the ACT are the organizations that administer college standardized testing. Both organizations are registered tax-exempt nonprofits (ProPublica, n.d.-a; ProPublica, n.d.-b). They are financially dependent on standardized testing. According to ProPublica, which collects data from the Federal Audit Cleaninghouse, in 2017, the College Board had a total revenue of around \$1.1 billion and a net income of \$140 million (ProPublica, n.d.-b). About 94% of their revenue comes from their "program services" which includes administration of the SAT and AP exams (Ibid). In the same year, ACT Inc., which provides the ACT exam as an alternative to the SAT, had a total revenue of \$353 million and a net loss of \$3 million (ProPublica, n.d.-a). Like the College Board, 94.1% of their revenue comes from "program services" or test administration (Ibid). Based on these numbers, both nonprofits rely heavily on revenue from standardized testing. Thus, they have a vested interest in maintaining or expanding the existing standardized testing industry.

The stated mission of the College Board nonprofit is to "expand access to higher education" and "[promote] excellence and equity in education" (The College Board, 2018). The organization also "serves the education community through research and advocacy on behalf of students, educators, and schools" (Ibid). The ACT has a similar mission statement: the organization is "dedicated to helping people achieve education and workplace success" (ACT, n.d.). With respect to standardized testing, the ACT holds the view that:

"ACT scores are the only admission decision factor that provide a common, standardized metric allowing colleges to compare students from different schools, states and countries on a level playing field. No other factor used in admission decisions can do that." (Strauss, 2019)

Although both the ACT and SAT are administered as college entrance exams, the SAT is the bigger and more popular exam. Thus, throughout the thesis, the College Board will be referred to over the ACT. However, the two are comparable and the analysis given applies to both exams.

University admissions departments are also heavily involved in standardized testing. Around 60% of universities in the United States require the SAT or ACT for admission. For example, UVA requires either the SAT or ACT, but states that "standardized testing is a useful but imprecise instrument" and does not have a minimum SAT score requirement (University of Virginia, n.d.). This makes the rationale behind the requirement unclear. For the 40% of universities who do not require the SAT/ACT, the reasoning is typically that they do not find the scores valuable for assessing the academic capabilities of students. The university admissions departments are a split on the issue of standardized testing, with some who support it and some who do not. Only some admissions departments directly benefit from standardized testing as a measurement of academic potential, where ideally they are able to pick students who will be successful at their schools. This gives them an advantage over schools who do not use standardized testing. Those schools lack a quick and easy way to filter through applicants, which increases the time they need to spend on each application and the manpower involved in admitting students.

Some individuals and companies have built careers around helping students prepare for SAT and ACT testing. The test preparation industry will earn a revenue of \$1.1 billion in 2019, a

2.4% increase from the year prior (IBISWorld, n.d.). Preparation for the SAT can range between \$10 for a book, and \$1,000 for an instructor-led class ("How much does SAT prep cost?," n.d.). In 2018, about 2 million students took the SAT, and another 1.9 million took the ACT (Emma & Wermund, 2018). These students are an excellent market for the test preparation industry. The industry obviously benefits financially from the continued use of standardized tests: if the SAT and ACT were removed from university admissions requirements, it is unlikely that as many people would take these exams, and the industry would shrink.

Finally, high school students and their families are heavily impacted by standardized testing. These students are the ones who take the exams and are applying for college admissions. They are impacted by standardized exams because of the belief that a high score will help their admission, and conversely that a low score will prevent them from going to a good school. The College Board recommends that a student take the SAT at least two times (College Board, 2018b). Students who wish to improve their scores may take the exam multiple times. However, each SAT exam costs a minimum of \$49.50 (College Board, 2018a). That means that the SAT may place a financial burden on students and their families.

It is worth examining the relationships between these parties. The College Board depends on high school students financially, and high school students depend on the College Board for giving them an exam score that they can use to apply to college. Students who wish to improve their score may take the same test multiple times, or take a different test. The College Board benefits financially from this, and there is a commonly held perception that a better score may benefit a student by helping them get into an elite school. Some elite schools may use scores to screen out applicants, so a high score can help students proceed beyond an initial survey of

applications. However, standardized tests may be a financial burden on students and their families, so the College Board offers fee waivers for qualifying students.

University admissions departments may consider standardized testing scores from the College Board when admitting applicants. Many departments also superscore applicants, which means that their highest scores from each section are taken, even across different test sessions (College Board, 2018b). For example, a student who excels in the SAT Reading section on one exam and the SAT Math section on another version of the exam would have their two good scores combined and submitted as their final score. This practice means that both the College Board and admissions departments benefit from students taking the exam multiple times. The College Board benefits financially, and admissions departments get to see the best academic performance for some students. Superscoring also encourages high school students to take the exams multiple times in order to maximize their score for submission to university admissions departments.

Finally, the test preparation industry depends totally on the administration of these exams and their importance to high schoolers. Students who wish to do well on their exams may hire a tutor, attend classes, or buy practice exams, all of which are sold by the test preparation industry. Due to the high importance placed on the results of these exams, these services come in a wide range of prices, from a few dollars for a book to thousands of dollars for an in-depth class, which can be inaccessible to people of low socioeconomic status. Both in theory and in practice, this means that those of higher socioeconomic backgrounds have an advantage when preparing for the exam, as more resources are available to them.

A. Utilitarian Approach

The benefit to society of the SAT is twofold. First, it may allow for qualified individuals to attend elite universities, especially if they come from an underserved area that does not allow them to show their true academic potential. Second, it allows university admissions departments to quickly filter through applicants, saving them time and money. It also allows for them to process higher volumes of applications, which may encourage more people to apply to college in general.

On the other hand, the SAT may be a financial and psychological burden for many students. Test preparation for the SAT may start as early as the seventh grade (Kamanetz, 2015). High school students are also told that their entry to college is contingent on achieving a good SAT score. This can put intense pressure on students, both in high school and middle school. The SAT and test preparation specifically are both financial burdens as well. Although the amount spent on test preparation is ultimately the decision of a high school student and their family, the importance placed on standardized testing may encourage them to spend large sums of money on the exam. The Varsity Blues scandal, which involved huge amounts of money being spent for higher SAT scores, demonstrates the importance of standardized testing scores in college admissions as well as the lengths families feel they must go to in order to improve their students' scores.

B. Human Rights Approach

Is higher education a human right, and if so, is the current implementation of standardized testing an obstacle to fulfilling that human right? McCowan (2012) explores whether higher education is a human right or privilege by using conceptual legal and moral arguments. Article 26 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948) states that higher

education should be accessible to all but can be restricted by merit. Restriction based on merit and academic preparation ensures that all students will be able to engage meaningfully in their education. Article 4 of the Convention against Discrimination in Education (1960) similarly states that education should be accessible to all but can be restricted only based on "individual capacity", or the academic potential of students. This accounts for students that come from lowresource areas and may not have opportunities for achievement available to them. Both of these state that higher education is a right similar to elementary education, but can be restricted. Neither declaration addresses the relative quality of the education. Thus, international law generally sees higher education as a human right, but as independent of the quality of instruction.

McCowan (2012) also justifies the right to higher education by characterizing it not only as classroom learning, but a learning experience and period of intellectual development that should be accessible to all. By considering higher education in terms of international law as well as a developmental experience, McCowan concludes that higher education is a human right that can be restricted based only on merit.

It can also be argued that higher education is not a right but a privilege, and still benefits society. McCowan (2012) notes an argument that while higher education is restricted, it benefits society economically by taxing those individuals and generally by using their expertise. Hashi (2012) asserts that while higher education is a privilege, it is accessible to all through online courses and scholarships. While these are valid arguments, they fail to address the idea that higher education is a developmental experience that everyone should have easy access to, in the same way that they have access to elementary education.

If higher education is a human right, does the SAT restrict access to it? The role of the SAT is to restrict admission to highly competitive universities by giving preference to students

with high scores (Beatty et al., 1999). However, for universities outside of the elite, high scores do not serve much purpose in admission aside from a basic academic assessment. Some schools do not require the SAT at all. While other barriers may exist outside of standardized test scores, such as inadequate academic preparation or economic status, the SAT itself does not inhibit students from accessing general higher education. It does prevent some students from attending elite institutions and receiving a higher quality education. However, this is not addressed in international law, and it is certainly possible to develop intellectually at a non-elite institution. Thus, the SAT does not prevent people from achieving their human right to higher education.

4. Alternative Solutions

A. Not Allowing Retakes

One potential solution is only allowing a student to take the SAT once. This would remove the practice of superscoring. However, it does not account for the fact that some students have more time and money to put towards test preparation than others.

i. Utilitarian Approach

This would benefit high school students in some ways. They would not have to spend money on multiple test attempts. It would also benefit students who cannot afford to take the test multiple times, as everyone is in the same situation. It might harm the test preparation industry since students do not have to study for retakes. On the other hand, it might not impact that industry at all, as students still have to prepare for their single, high-stakes exam. Beyond this, this approach is very similar to the current standardized testing system.

ii. Human Rights Approach

A single chance to take the SAT might be seen as infringing on people's rights to use their money as they please. In a way similar to how political donations are a form of political activism, it can be argued that the freedom to pay for multiple attempts at the SAT is important and should not be infringed upon. However, this seems unrealistic. The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971 has been in existence for decades (Federal Election Commission, n.d.). A similar restriction on using money for standardized testing does not seem unreasonable. Although it may provoke complaints from some, this new addition does not seem to be a deterrent to human rights. Aside from that, the human rights analysis of this approach is similar to the analysis of the current system.

B. Weighting SAT Scores

Lemann (2000) suggests weighting SAT scores to account for socioeconomic background, school quality, race, and other factors.

i. Utilitarian Approach

Lemann found that this form of weighting does account for the shown influence that socioeconomic status has on SAT scores. In this way, it provides a more accurate depiction of someone's academic capabilities regardless of their background. It might also remove some of the stress from students. If they are aware that factors out of their control that are shown to influence SAT scores, such as the school they go to, their socioeconomic status, and parental engagement, are accounted for, they could feel less pressure to perform as well as their more privileged peers. It could also be a benefit to university admissions departments, as the score will better represent a student's capabilities. Aside from that, changing to this approach would not have much impact on test preparation or the College Board.

ii. Human Rights Approach

This approach could be a major human rights issue. Although it would help people from lower socioeconomic status, it would actively harm students from higher classes. Due to circumstances out of their control, their scores would be lowered while their peers' scores were raised. It is possible to draw parallels to affirmative action policies here, though a full analysis is out of the scope of this work. However, similar to the human rights discussion of the current system, in the grand scheme of college admissions this approach itself may not be enough to actually claim a human rights violation. This would not prevent students from attending higher education, only limit admission to elite institutions. All the same, it is certainly more of an impediment of human rights than the current system.

C. An Adaptive Exam

In this alternative, Kamenetz (2015) suggests that the SAT would be administered on a computer. The test would be able to adapt to the student's answers and adjust to their academic level. The difficulty and order of questions would depend on the answers to the previous question, and not necessarily be in order of difficulty.

i. Utilitarian Approach

Computer-based testing like this is a huge opportunity for the test industry. The College Board and the test preparation industry would have the opportunity to sell tests, textbooks, and preparation materials to many students simultaneously. It would also provide university admissions departments with more information about individual students. For example, the test would be able to record how long a person spent on one question. Even if students do not score particularly well on the exam, having this information could help university admissions departments by giving them a more holistic view of their applicant, including their test-taking thought process.

ii. Human Rights Approach

This could benefit individual students by allowing them to get a better score on the exam. A test that adapts to their previous answers could make them feel more comfortable for the duration of the exam, allowing them to improve their scores. On the other hand, it could prevent students from showing their true potential. If they miss a question early on, that could set them back for the rest of the exam. Determining the algorithm for picking questions could be a difficult decision, and one that might inadvertently favor some students over others. Additionally, the test has the potential to provide more information about how individuals take the test. While this could be a benefit by allowing university admissions departments more

information about students, it can also be seen as an invasion of privacy, especially if someone's thought process is unconventional and might be misinterpreted by others. It could be a detriment to admissions.

D. Performance Assessment

In this approach, Kamenetz (2015) calls for abolishment of standardized testing altogether. Instead, the SAT could be replaced with performance assessments, or an analysis of the student's overall performance in high school, not their results on an exam. This alternative emphasizes completion of tasks similar to "real-world" work instead of essays or standardized testing.

i. Utilitarian Approach

One downside of this is that it makes it difficult to compare between diverse groups. This adds to the workload of university admissions departments, which would suddenly lack a standard to compare students with. Additionally, a student's performance might be heavily based on what resources were available to them in high school, which would not be equal for all applicants. It also places much more work on high school teachers. Depending on their school district, these teachers might already be overworked and underpaid, and adding more work to their days does not seem beneficial. It would also be very difficult to integrate with a test-based system like the one we currently have, raising questions of who will have to do the integration and how that will impact college admissions during those years of transition. On the other hand, it would benefit them later as productive members of society. It may also cost less money to schools. Instead of paying for test preparation, they can then spend money on things like professional development.

This approach would cause major issues for the test preparation industry. Without tests at all, the industry would likely collapse, putting some people out of jobs and almost certainly dissolving entities like the College Board and ACT. The economic ramifications of this approach would be huge, especially when compared to other alternatives.

ii. Human Rights Approach

This approach would certainly benefit students in some schools more than others. Since not all schools have the same resources, it might further the gap in achievement between wellfunded and underserved schools. Additionally, it would benefit some individuals more than others. At the high school level, it might be difficult to treat all subjects equally. Teachers might find it easier to let students have creative freedom in the humanities, but not necessarily in math and science. This would harm students who are more inclined towards math and science, as they would not be able to show their full potential due to the limitations of their school.

5. Conclusions and Future Work

This thesis presents an analysis of the current standardized testing system as well as four alternatives, through the lenses of utilitarianism and individual human rights. While the current system harms high school students financially and psychologically, it does support the College Board and the test preparation industry, so removing the SAT would cause economic harm. The current system also does not violate human rights: while it may keep people from attending elite universities, it does not prevent them from attending university at all. Community colleges and the like are still places of intellectual development that can benefit those looking to further their education. An alternative to the SAT would benefit students. However, none of the alternatives discussed here are perfect solutions that preserve individual rights and do no economic harm to the test preparation industry. Although no ideal alternative exists, it is still important to recognize the limits of the current system in order to acknowledge its impact on university admissions.

Some opportunities for future work are studying the impact of standardized testing on college athletes, focusing on disadvantaged groups, comparing the role of standardized tests for graduate school with undergraduate schools, and focusing more on the specific case of the college admissions scandal. There is also the potential to discuss standardized testing with affirmative action policies. With respect to the human rights discussion, there is an opportunity for work in comparing the quality of an online and in-person degree, and whether an online degree fulfills the human rights requirements for higher education. Finally, I suggest that future work focuses on not only the current role of standardized testing in higher education admissions, but also analyzes trends and potential future developments in that industry, with the end goal of analyzing what standardized testing should be allowed to become.

6. References

ACT. (n.d.). About ACT. Retrieved November 1, 2019, from ACT website: https://www.act.org/content/act/en/about-act.html

Beatty, A., Greenwood, M. R. C., Linn, R. L., Steering Committee for the Workshop on Higher Education Admissions, Board on Testing and Assessment, Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, ... National Research Council. (1999). *Myths and Tradeoffs: The Role of Tests in Undergraduate Admissions*. Retrieved from https://www.nap.edu/catalog/9632/myths-and-tradeoffs-the-role-of-tests-inundergraduate-admissions

- College Board. (2018a, May 18). How much do the SAT and SAT subject tests cost? Retrieved November 1, 2019, from The College Board Blog website: https://blog.collegeboard.org/how-much-does-sat-and-sat-subject-test-cost
- College Board. (2018b, June 6). How many times can a student take the SAT, and when should they take it? Retrieved November 1, 2019, from For Parents & Guardians website: https://parents.collegeboard.org/faq/how-many-times-can-student-take-sat-when-shouldtake
- Convention Against Discrimination in Education. (1960). Retrieved December 2, 2019, from Records of the General Conference, 11th session, Paris, 1960: Resolutions website: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000114583.locale=en

Emma, C., & Wermund, B. (2018, October 25). SAT scores rise, as do the numbers of testtakers. *Politico*. Retrieved from https://www.politico.com/newsletters/morningeducation/2018/10/25/sat-scores-rise-as-do-the-numbers-of-test-takers-388387

Federal Election Commission. (n.d.). Contribution limits. Federal Election Commission of the

United States of America. Retrieved April 6, 2020, from https://www.fec.gov/helpcandidates-and-committees/candidate-taking-receipts/contribution-limits/

- Gorman, M. E., Mehalik, M. M., & Werhane, P. H. (2000). *Ethical and environmental challenges to engineering*. Upper Saddle River, N.J: Prentice Hall.
- Hashi, S. (2012, September 19). Is higher education a right or privilege? Retrieved November 28, 2019, from The Sheaf website: https://thesheaf.com/2012/09/19/is-higher-educationa-right-or-privilege/
- How much does SAT prep cost? Costhelper. Com. (n.d.). Retrieved November 1, 2019, from CostHelper website: https://education.costhelper.com/sat-prep.html
- IBISWorld. (n.d.). Key Statistics. Retrieved from Tutoring & Test Preparation Franchises website: https://clients1.ibisworld.com/reports/us/industry/keystatistics.aspx?entid=5609
- Kamenetz, A. (2015). *The test: Why our schools are obsessed with standardized testing-but you don't have to be* (First Edition). PublicAffairs.
- Lemann, N. (2000). *The Big Test: The Secret History of the American Meritocracy*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Li, A., & Mandell, M. (2019, March 12). Georgetown Parents, Former Coach Face Bribery Charges. *The Hoya*. Retrieved from https://thehoya.com/georgetown-parents-formercoach-face-bribery-charges-admissions-cases/
- McCowan, T. (2012). Is there a universal right to higher education? *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 60(2), 111–128. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071005.2011.648605
- ProPublica. (n.d.-a). ACT Inc. Retrieved from Nonprofit Explorer: Research Tax-Exempt Organizations website:

https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/420841485

ProPublica. (n.d.-b). College Board. Retrieved from Nonprofit Explorer: Research Tax-Exempt Organizations website:

https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/organizations/131623965

- Strauss, V. (2019, October 18). A record number of colleges drop SAT/ACT admissions requirement amid growing disenchantment with standardized tests. *The Washington Post*. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2019/10/18/record-numbercolleges-drop-satact-admissions-requirement-amid-growing-disenchantment-withstandardized-tests/
- The College Board. (2018, December 6). About Us. Retrieved November 1, 2019, from College Board website: https://about.collegeboard.org/overview
- United States Attorney's Office, District of Massachusetts. (2019, March 11). *Investigations* of college admissions and testing bribery scheme. https://www.justice.gov/usaoma/investigations-college-admissions-and-testing-bribery-scheme
- Universal Declaration of Human Rights. (1948). Retrieved December 2, 2019, from https://www.un.org/en/universal-declaration-human-rights/index.html
- University of Virginia. (n.d.). FAQ. Retrieved November 1, 2019, from Office of Undergraduate Admission website: https://admission.virginia.edu/faq